
- 1 - 

MINUTES 
LANCASTER COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

COUNTY-CITY BUILDING, ROOM 112 
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2015 

4:30 P.M. 
 
 

Advance public notice of the Board of Commissioners meeting was posted on the County-City 
Building bulletin board and the Lancaster County, Nebraska, web site and emailed to the media on 
October 16, 2015. 
 
Commissioners present:  Roma Amundson, Chair; Larry Hudkins, Vice Chair; Bill Avery, Deb Schorr 
and Todd Wiltgen 
 
Others present:  Kerry Eagan, Chief Administrative Officer; Gwen Thorpe, Deputy Chief 
Administrative Officer; David Derbin, Deputy County Attorney; Kristy Bauer, Deputy County Attorney; 
Dan Nolte, County Clerk; and Kelly Lundgren, County Clerk’s Office 
 
The Chair called the meeting to order at 4:33 p.m., the pledge of allegiance was recited and the 
location of the Nebraska Open Meetings Act was announced. 
 

 PUBLIC HEARING:  
 
  A.  Commercial Wind Energy Text Amendment No. 15009. 
 
The Chair opened the public hearing and the oath was administered to those who wished to testify. 
 
Amundson read a statement outlining the procedures of the public hearing.   
 
Scott Holmes, Environmental Public Health Division Manager, Lincoln-Lancaster County 
Health Department (LLCHD), gave a PowerPoint presentation on Health-based Noise Standard 
(Exhibit A), noting the following:  
 

 Existing County Zoning Resolution 13.018 which addresses Commerical Wind Energy  
Conversion Systems (CWECS) 
 35 dB(A) at all times measured at the property line 

 Proposed noise limits in the text amendment 
 40 dB(A) measured at 10 min Leq (average noise level over a specified period of time) 

during daytime hours (7 a.m. to 10 p.m.) 
 37 dB(A) measured as a 10 min Leq at night 
 Measured at the dwelling unit. 

 Wind turbine noise is unique 
 It is different than other types of environmental noise 
 It has unique characteristics, including amplitude modulation and tonality 

 Four significant studies were reviewed and given significant credibility  
 2012 – Massachusetts DEP/DH Expert Panel on Wind Turbine Noise & Health 
 2014 – Schmidt & Klokker; Health Effects Related to Wind Turbine Noise Exposure: 

A Systematic Reivew 
 2015 – Canadian Health Academies:  Understanding the Evidence:  The Expert Panel on 



- 2 - 

Wind Turbine Noise & Human Health 
 2015 – Health Canada – Wind Turbine Noise and Health (Epidemiological Study) 

 Massachusetts DEP/DH study recommends the sound pressure at night be below 40 dB(A) 
in residential areas 

 Schmidt & Klokker study found evidence the tolerable level is around 35 dB(A) 
 Canadian Health Academies concluded that wind turbine does cause annoyance, annoyance 

has many factors, and can lead to sleep disturbance, but the health impacts of wind turbine 
noise cannot be completely assessed at this time due to the limited quality of available 
evidence.  

 Health Canada found a statistically significant increase in annoyance when levels exceed  
35 dB(A), reports of being very or highly annoyed at levels greater than 40 dB(A), annoyance 
was significantly lower in participants who received personal benefit. 

 Conclusions:   
 Percent of annoyance varies by site, increases with noise level and associated with wind 

turbines 
 Annoyance is a health issue 
 35 to 40 dB(A) appears to be acceptable level for 80% of people near wind turbines 
 Major data gaps are reason for caution and conservative noise standards.   

 
Avery asked if the noise levels that are recommended would greatly limit the amount of eligible area 
that could qualify for a turbine and would the project be able to proceed because of this.   
 
Holmes said that he could not answer that question but felt that there were places in Lancaster 
County that would meet the recommendations.   
 
Schorr asked if Holmes had any recommendations regarding the flicker effect. 
 
Holmes stated the proposal contains the recommendations from the studies that were reviewed.  
 
Hudkins questioned if any information regarding the effects of the warning lights on the towers.  He 
also inquired about the recommended safe depth to remove the concrete if the towers were 
removed.   
 
Holmes said that no specific correlation to those type of effects were found in the research done by 
the Health Department and felt that four feet would be a reasonable depth. 
 
Wiltgen inquired if any of the studies had taken into consideration visual annoyance in correlation 
with the noise. 
 
Holmes said that data reviewed indicates there is a dose response relationship between the noise and 
annoyance, so not just the presence of the turbine but actually the noise.   
 
Gregory Schwaninger, 2401 West Hallam Road, Hallam, stated that he feels the sound limit 
should be raised to 50 dB(A) and that this is an ag related use of the land.  He said his family has 
farmed in the area for generations.  Schwaninger added this could create jobs within Lancaster 
County and decrease property taxes. Hudkins asked what the taxes were on his property.  
Schwaninger said approximately $89 per acre.   
 



- 3 - 

Marilyn McNabb, 1701 W Rose Street, Lincoln, presented information on the Noise Control 
Ordinance and a letter to the Commissioners (Exhibit B).  She stated that 45 dB(A) is a reasonable 
range for nighttime limits.  McNabb said the regulation for regular agricultural use is 75 dB(A).  She 
added this is an opportunity to take advantage of a natural resource and a positive change for 
farmers, taxpayers and the environment.   
 
Ken Haar (State Senator - Legislative District 21), 13901 NW 126th Street, Malcolm, came 
forward to express support for the wind turbines.  He told the Board wind development is a chance 
for property tax relief.  Haar gave examples of property tax revenue from wind farms in a number of 
Nebraska counties. (Exhibit C)  He said there is no peer review study that indicates wind 
development is a health hazard.  Haar stated that wind is a replacement for the well-documented 
health hazard of burning fossil fuels.  He said recently he visited the Steele Flats wind farm and at 
968 feet away from the wind turbine could not hear any sound associated with the turbine.  Haar 
urged the Board to adopt a reasonable proposal that lessens the differential between wind and other 
regulated activities, which have much higher sound limits.   
 
Avery asked where the amounts in the document presented came from.  
 
Haar replied he received the figures from a wind developer that works with those counties.  He 
added that he contacted the counties to verify the information.    
 
Wiltgen inquired as to how the counties benefit in general from the wind development and how the 
nameplate process works.  
 
Haar referred Wiltgen to page two of the document he submitted comparing Iowa and Nebraska 
which outlined the economic development of the two states.  Haar explained the nameplate capacity 
tax replaces property taxes that would otherwise be imposed on wind infrastructure.   
 
Schorr asked if the reduction in property value was taken into consideration when arriving at the 
figures presented.  
 
Haar answered no but referenced a study done in Australia that showed no significant reduction in 
property tax.   
 
Amundson inquired what the impact is specifically for Lancaster County taxes and revenue.     
 
Haar said the impact depends on the number of wind turbines placed in Lancaster County but could 
not give specific amounts.   
 
Hudkins questioned if the nameplate tax is assessed by the State of Nebraska. 
 
Haar stated that there is a state tax figure that is much like with farm equipment but he was unsure 
of the exact number.   
 
Mary A. Harding, 460 N “F” Street, Milford, appeared as a Representative of Subdivision 1 of 
Nebraska Public Power District, which includes all of rural Lancaster County.  She presented a card 
that she gave the rural Lancaster County residents while running for her third term which pictures 
Harding with wind turbines (Exhibit D).  Harding said she does not feel that she would have been re-
elected if the opinion of the county was not in favor of renewable energy.  She urged the Board to 



- 4 - 

not block economic development in the county by adopting unreasonable restrictive guidelines.  
Harding said what the Health Department is recommending would result in a “no build” zone in 
Lancaster County.   
 
Cindy Chapman, 1850 Gage Road, Firth, came forward representing residents of rural Lancaster 
and Gage County concerned with the effect of turbines, many of whom were in attendance and 
presented a map with intended wind turbine placement (Exhibit E).  She referenced a State Statute 
that states, as a farmer you cannot cause a nuisance by introducing a new land use that may create 
an issue with an existing neighbor.  Chapman said that wind turbines should not be considered a 
farming practice.  She stated if safe sound limits prevent wind turbines in Lancaster County it just 
confirms that the population density is too great.   
 
Hudkins asked Chapman if there is a direct difference in industrial use noise and agricultural noise.  
 
Chapman said that when they moved to the area they were aware there would be noise associated 
with farming and does not mind that.  She is concerned about the ability to sell their property due to 
wind turbines nearby.  
 
Avery and Wiltgen both commented that there has been no real data to support the fact that wind 
turbines make it more difficult to sell property.  Wiltgen noted that there are approximately 38,000 
wind turbines in the United States with no studies performed on this issue.  
 
Chapman stated that she had provided information from a study done in Michigan that showed a 
decrease in the value of homes near the wind turbines.   
 
Larry Allder, 2498 W Ash Road, Cortland, came forward stated that he opposed the setbacks 
that are being proposed because overlapping of property lines and county roads.  He stated this is 
not agricultural; it is commercial wind development and should be zoned appropriately.   
 
Wiltgen asked what Allder thought the setback should be. 
 
Allder said that it should be at least a three-turbine height from the property line.  
 
Gary Vocasek, 160 N East Street, Hallam, said the Health Department has done a good job of 
providing evidence on the effects of wind turbines, but was disappointed that the Planning 
Commission did not follow all the recommendations.  He stated the Board should do what is best for 
Lancaster County regardless of what Iowa or Kansas does as far as wind energy.   
 
Curtis Schwaninger, 3750 W Hallam Road, Hallam, appeared and commented that the wind 
energy project would decrease the value of property.  He voiced concerns of the effects the noise 
would have on children.  Schwaninger said the setback should be a minimum of three-quarters of a 
mile and the decibel level at 30 dB(A) in more populated areas.  He completely opposes the wind 
energy project.  
 
Hudkins asked what the taxes were on the property he owned.  
 
Schwaninger said approximately $70 - $100 per acre.   
 



- 5 - 

Joetta Schwaninger, 3750 W Hallam Road, Hallam, asked the Board to set the sound levels to 
37 dB(A) at night and 40 dB(A) during the day and the sound limits at the property line and not the 
dwelling.  She said health issues can be exacerbated by the wind turbines due to sound and shadow 
flicker.   
   
Daniel Clausen, 1215 G Street, #8, Lincoln, presented a study that the Health Department did 
not mention (Exhibit F).  He stated the findings showed that there was no clear evidence that wind 
turbines have impact on health but a small percentage of people reported annoyance.  Clausen 
expressed concerns about health related issues that he experiences every day that do not gain as 
much attention as the wind turbines.   
 
David Corbin, 1002 N 48th Street, Omaha, currently an Adjunct Professor of Public Health at 
Creighton, said the evidence of linking public health and wind turbines is not solid.  He stated that 
many of the most respected national medical and public health associations all recommend 
conversion to renewable energy over fossil fuels, which are far more hazardous than anything 
demonstrated by wind turbines.  Corbin said in visiting with public health officials from Iowa that they 
report only a handful of health related complaints in a state that has a large number of wind turbines 
and various sound regulations.   
 
Wiltgen asked if Corbin had reviewed the Canadian Academy conclusion referenced earlier in the 
meeting.   
 
Corbin stated there are several Canadian studies and they have conflicting results.   
 
Al Davis (State Senator), 66455 Ponderosa Road, Hyannis, told the Board a large group of 
landowners from Cherry County, where his home is located have gone together to consider 
developing wind energy in their area because of the positive economic impact.  He said that the 
decisions that Lancaster County makes could set a precedent for other counties throughout the state.  
Davis stated that discussions on how to solve the property tax crisis are ongoing at the Capital 
particularly related to ag land and wind energy could play a part in property tax relief.  He 
commented on the nameplate capacity tax that is $3581.00 per megawatt and goes on for the life of 
the turbine that is sent to the state and then back to the taxing district and a two-hundred megawatt 
project would provide approximately 1.25 million dollars in property tax relief.   
 
Schorr commented that she has spent time visiting with fellow commissioners through the state and 
currently twenty-two counties have regulations at 50 dB(A) and five counties at 60 dB(A).   
 
John Hansen, 1305 Plum Street, Lincoln, President Nebraska Farmers Union, presented a 
testimony on the Lancaster County Zoning Ordinance (Exhibit G).  He said he has worked with 
planning and zoning issues for over forty years.  Hansen indicated that the Farmers Union has 
employed Peter Guldberg of Tech Environmental as an expert consultant in wind project issues. He 
added that Guldberg has worked with wind project issues in more heavily populated areas in the 
country.  Hansen said Guldberg recommendations are 50 dB(A) during the day and 45 dB(A) at night 
as a reasonable balance that allows for development and protects the health of the residents.   
 
David Schwaninger, 28500 SW 14th Street, Martell, appeared in support of the project.  He 
stated this is an ag use.  Schwaninger said the recommendations set forth by the Health Department 
will eliminate this project.  He noted the high property tax of agriculture land and the rent received 
from having towers on the property would help offset those taxes.   



- 6 - 

Larry Chapman, 1850 Gage Road, Firth, stated that wind energy developers have not been 
upfront with landowners.  He said that people do not want to live with wind turbines and residential 
and business growth will stop.  Chapman said research shows the wind farms lower the property 
value and do pose a threat to public health. He asked the Board to abide by the Health Department 
recommendations.   
 
Paul Meints, 885 Ashley Avenue, Cortland, told the Board that he has a housing development in 
Gage County.  He said he has three lots for sale and once he discloses the fact that the wind turbines 
could be in the area the potential buyers do not return.   
 
Jeffrey Wagner, 205 SE Spokane Street, Portland, Oregon, stated that individuals involved in 
wind energy development are focused on building safe and healthy infrastructures.  He said that wind 
energy is one of the safest and lowest impact forms of energy.  Wagner added that it fits well in the 
agricultural setting by still allowing use of land for crops and economic benefits.  He noted that many 
people live around and work with wind turbines without any adverse health effects.  Wagner urged 
the Board to accept the text language proposed by Volkswind that contains important clarification for 
site restoration, shadow flicker, setbacks and noise.  He said the text prioritizes health and safety as 
well as property rights.   Wagner indicated that he is the Director of Volkswind USA in the United 
States. 
 
Hudkins asked if after the useful life of the turbine what happens to the concrete bases and what 
steps are taken to assure they are properly removed.     
 
Wagner stated that Volkswind has uniform lease contract with all participating landowners and for 
the Hallam project the private contract requires removal down to 40 inches.  He added the Planning 
Commission proposed text is 4 feet, which is acceptable.  Wagner noted clarification in the text, 
which refers to the condition of the land prior to installation.   
 
Wiltgen asked why they chose Lancaster County and what area will be served by the power 
generated by the wind farm. 
 
Wagner stated that Volkswind looks for agricultural zones for wind farms.  He said another 
consideration is presence of high voltage transmission such as the Sheldon Power Station.  The 
power will be included in the Southwest Power pool that serves Nebraska and many surrounding 
states.   
 
Robert O’Neal, 3 Clock Tower Place, Maynard, Massachusetts, stated he is an acoustical 
engineer certified by the Institute of Noise Control of Engineers that focus on wind energy.  He said 
acceptable levels are 50 dB(A) night and 45 dB(A) during the day.  O’Neal noted that visual impact is 
a strong correlation to annoyance but does not cause health effects.   
 
The Chair recessed the Public Hearing at 6:35 p.m.  
 
The Public Hearing resumed at 6:55 p.m. 
 
Judy Daugherty, P.O. Box 193, Hallam, stated that she will be directly impacted if the proposed 
text amendment is not changed.  She said that twelve wind turbines could be placed within a mile of 
her home.  Daugherty added that the Planning Commission has not performed proper research on 
the subject.  She said she believes there is significant risk to her families health.   Daugherty said she 



- 7 - 

does agree with the recommendations made by Scott Holmes but not the proposed changes made by 
the Planning Commission.   
 
Cindy Friesen, 2260 W Pella Road, Hallam, said that this is not about wind energy but about the 
right to protect property rights and the health of their family.  She said they purchased an eighty-
acre farm near Hallam.  Friesen stated that ten days after closing that she read in the Lincoln Journal 
of the proposed wind farm.  She added the landowner and realtor did not disclose this information.   
 
Alan Friesen, 2260 W Pella Road, Hallam, appeared and presented pictures of the proposed 
turbine sites located near his farm (Exhibit H).  He stated this is not an energy issue but where it is 
located and the area proposed is too populated for a wind farm.  Friesen urged the Board to adopt 
the Health Department’s recommendations.   
 
Mark Hunzeker, 600 Wells Fargo Center, Lincoln, appearing on the behalf of Mr. and Mrs. 
Friesen.  He said this is a land use issue, not an environmental or economic development issue.  
Hunzeker stated industrial scaled wind farms will adversely affect the property value and 
development of the area.  He said the Board should adopt the standards set by the Health 
Department.  Hunzeker added that an amendment should be added to measure setbacks from 
property lines and not dwellings.   
 
Schorr asked if Hunzeker had any specifications with regard to the greater or less than ten acres.   
 
Hunzeker stated that the regulations drafted indicated on ten acres or less the measurement would 
be from the property line and from the residence on more than ten acres.  He said measuring from 
the property line would be more consistent.  
 
Hudkins asked Hunzeker as one of the leading attorneys in Lincoln on property rights to speak on the 
Right to Farm Act.  
 
Hunzeker said the Right to Farm Act protects farming operations from being declared a nuisance if 
the choice is made to locate next to existing farm operations.  He stated that the Farm Act applies to 
any tract of land over 10 acres used for the commercial production of farm products.   Hunzeker 
continued that the Zoning Ordinance defines agricultural in a similar way.   
 
E Wayne Boles, 128 N 13th Street, #506, Lincoln, commented that electricity is a necessity.  He 
said that the normal speaking volume is about 54 dB(A).   
 
Ann Devries, 684 E Aspen Road, Cortland, came forward in support of wind farms.  She said she 
is an acreage owner, but does not qualify for a wind turbine on her property.  Devries stated that she 
supports a high a decibel sound limit.  
 
Mike Woodward, 2750 SW 14th Road, Cortland, said he is a third generation farmer.  He stated 
that the wind farms will only benefit a few select home owners.  Woodward noted that due to pivot 
irrigation it will require the turbines to be placed closer to homes.   
 
John Atkeison, 2601 N 44th Street, #1, Lincoln, said he does not feel that there is substantial 
evidence to show wind farms cause health issues.  He stated that a reasonable level would be 50 
dB(A) during the day and 45 dB(A) at night. 
 



- 8 - 

Russell Miller, 341 S 52nd Street, Lincoln, presented the Board a statement he prepared (Exhibit 
I).  Miller said that it is important to be concerned about all the residents of Lancaster County and 
wind energy would replace burning coal.  He stated that it is well known that coal is a major cause of 
air pollution and pollution free air benefits all residents of Lancaster County.  Miller said he hopes that 
the Board will set the decibel level that will make wind farms feasible.  He added the revenue 
generated from the wind farms could be used to repair county roads.   
 
Julie Dance, 7800 W Hallam Road, Hallam, commented that she would not have purchased her 
property had she known there would be wind turbines located so close.  Dance said normal farm 
noises and activities were expected.  She added that there are less intrusive forms of safe energy. 
 
Thomas Schuerman, 2000 W Princeton Road, Martell, came forward and told the Board that 
he is a professional engineer and has a responsibility in part to help maintain the health and safety of 
the public wherever he can.  He said that he has concerns with the zoning ordinance as it is 
proposed. Schuerman stated that it should also take into account the manufacturers 
recommendations for setbacks.   He does support the sound levels suggested by the Public Health 
Department.  
 
Trevor L. Lienemann, 26969 Homestead Expressway, Princeton, told the Board his property 
will be surrounded by wind turbines.  He said they host visitors from around the world in order to 
promote agriculture but he does not consider wind farms agriculture.  Lienemann stated that 
property values will decrease.   
 
Lisa Sullivan, NextEra Energy, 700 Universe Boulevard, Juno Beach, Florida, Director of 
NextEra Energy, told the Board that NextEra is not looking at developing in Lancaster County but the 
decision made by the Board could impact regulations in other counties.  She presented information 
outlining how NextEra designed the Steele Flats Wind Project and the factors that were taken into 
consideration (Exhibit J). The slides also showed how the area available to place wind turbines 
diminishes as the decibel level is lowered.   
 
Wiltgen asked if there are manufacturer standards. 
 
Sullivan stated that each manufacturer has certain setbacks that they recommend.  She said that 
NextEra has 10,000 operating GE turbines and the recommendations are taken into consideration as 
NextEra would be liable. Sullivan said NextEra standards are 1400 feet from the residence.   
 
David Levy, Baird Holm LLP, 1500 Woodmen Tower, Omaha, appeared before the Board on 
behalf of Volkswind and NextEra.  He stated that his law firm has worked with many of the wind 
developers active in the state and worked on wind zoning in many counties in the state.  Levy said 
the noise requirements are effectively setbacks.  He said the large property line setbacks will not be 
necessary because of the noise level really will be the driving factor.  Levy noted that all of the 
property taxes paid by wind farms are paid out to the taxing entities within the county in the exact 
same proportion as real and personal property taxes.   
 
Avery asked Levy why he feels Lancaster County will set the standards.   
 
Levy said that many smaller counties do not have the resources to perform the research and will 
follow the larger counties lead.   He recommended that the Board visit with other counties that have 



- 9 - 

years of experience of operating wind farms.  Levy referenced the Steele Flats wind farm noting that 
there has not been any documented complaints for the residents in the area.   
 
Larry Oltman, 899 E Gage Road, Cortland, appeared in support of the wind farms.  He said at a 
recent meeting regarding Steele Flats and he was informed there has been no reports of property 
devaluation.  Oltman stated he is a dryland farmer and this would be additional income.   
 
Tori Lienemann, 26969 Homestead Expressway, Princeton, told the Board annoyance is a 
subjective term and not easily measurable.  She said that there will be eleven turbines surrounding 
their home.  Lienemann stated that their farm will host the Cattleman’s Ball in June 2016 which raise 
funds for cancer research and health initiatives.  She added that the visual obstruction from the 
proposed wind turbines will affect the appealing landscape at their farm. 
 
Hudkins asked how the turbines affect the disabled.   
 
Lienemann said people with sensory disorders the flicker and sensory overload can compound the 
disabling condition and cause irreparable damage.  She stated this is a professional opinion as she 
has a PhD in Special Education with a focus on Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and 
considered an expert in the field by Vanderbilt University.   
 
The Chair closed the Public Hearing.   
 
Amundson indicated that the Board would be making a decision at the Tuesday, October 27, 2015 
Board of Commissioners meeting at 9:00 a.m. but would not be accepting any testimony at that time.   
 
Hudkins offered an amendment to the Planning Commission recommendation.  He would like for the 
Board to consider that each tower be removed within a year of decommissioning or revocation of the 
special permit and upon removal that five feet of soil placed on the average surrounding ground 
level.    
 
Schorr asked Scott Holmes the reasoning behind the recommendation that the setback is measured 
at the dwelling unit versus property line.  Holmes stated based on data reviewed the majority of 
complaints relative to health came at nighttime when you are typically in the residence.  It was not 
intended to protect the property line issue.   
 
Avery commended Holmes and the staff of the Health Department for their excellent research.   
 
Schorr made a motion to accept the Health Department regulations at 40 dB(A) during the day and 
37 dB(A) at night measured from the dwelling units, the applicable flicker recommendation made by 
the Planning Commission and to incorporate Hudkins amendment.  Schorr would direct the County 
Attorney to draft the resolution for discussion on Tuesday, October 27, 2015. 
 
Hudkins seconded the motion for discussion.  He stated that he does not necessarily agree but it is a 
start.  Hudkins said that he feels 45 dB(A) is preferable but is willing to work together on that.  
Hudkins expressed concern with the setback being from the dwelling unit and felt it should be from 
the property line.   
 
Avery stated that he will vote no but that it does not indicate that he is opposed to the project, rather 
he does not agree with the motion made.   



- 10 - 

 
Wiltgen said that he will vote no at this time because more he needs time to review the information 
presented at the public hearing.   
 
Amundson stated she supports the Health Department’s recommendation.  She referred to the 
property tax relief mentioned during the public hearing and said when divided out does not create a 
great impact.  Amundson said when reviewing comments by physicians all over the world there is a 
complex of symptoms that arise from wind turbines.   She also felt as realtor that it does impact 
property value and said it must be disclosed to potential buyers, which has resulted in loss of interest 
in purchasing land or homes in the area.  
 
Schorr inquired whether the County Attorney could draft a resolution and the Board make line item 
changes.   
 
Kristy Bauer, Deputy County Attorney, informed the Board it would not be appropriate to make line 
item changs on this text amendment.  She said clear direction on the Board’s intentions is needed 
before any resolution is drafted.   
 
A vote was taken on Schorr’s previous motion.   
 
ROLL CALL:  Avery, Hudkins, Wiltgen and Amundson voted no. Schorr voted aye.  Motion failed 
4-1.   
 
2)  ADJOURNMENT 
 
MOTION: Schorr moved and Wiltgen seconded to adjourn at 8:30 p.m.  Hudkins, Schorr, Wiltgen, 
Avery and Amundson voted aye.  Motion carried 5-0.   
 
 
 
 
 
________________________   
Dan Nolte, County Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
   
 
 
 
  
 
   
























































































































